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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
NASHVILLE DIVISION

MYRTLE COOPER,

Plaintiff, CaseNo. 3:13-cv-1023

Judge Trauger
V.

PERFECT EQUIPMENT, INC,,

~anaor T o T T

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM

Pending before the court isvtotion for Summary Judgment (Docket No. 16) filed by the
defendant, Perfect Equipment, Inc. (“PerfEéquipment” or the “comgny”), to which the
plaintiff has filed a Response in opposition (DddKe. 23), and the defendant has filed a Reply
(Docket No. 30). Also pending esMotion for Partial Summaryidgment (Docket No. 27) filed
by the plaintiff, Myrtle Cooper, to which the defendant has filed a Response in opposition
(Docket No. 33). For the reasons discussed herein, both motions will be denied.

BACKGROUND

Overview"

The defendant, Perfect Equipment, employed the plaintiff from July 2001 until her
termination on August 27, 2012. Perfect Equipmeat Delaware corporation that is now
known as Wegmann Automotive. (Docket 19 Y I2.xhis lawsuit, Coopealleges that Perfect

Equipment violated the Family andiedical Leave Act, 29 U.S.C. § 26@0seq (“FMLA” or

! Unless otherwise noted, the facts are drawn fitwerparties’ submissions in support of their
motions, including the defendant’s Statement/nflisputed Facts (Docket No. 18 (“DSUF"))

and the plaintiff's responses thereto (Docket RR), the plaintiff's Statement of Undisputed
Facts (Docket No. 27, Ex. 2 (“PSUF”)) and théethelant’s responsesdrieto (Docket No. 32),

and additional exhibits submitted in support & thspective motions (Docket Nos. 19 (Affidavit
of Julie Darnell), 20 (Affidavit of Holly Hill)and 25, Exs. 1-4 (various depositions submitted by
plaintiff).)
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“Act”), by interfering with, restaining, or denying the plaintif§ right to take leave under
29 U.S.C. § 2615.

. Factual Background

A. Cooper’s Employment and July 2012 Request for Leave
Between July 2001 and her terminatior2012, Cooper was employed as a “loader,
unloader, and powder coater’Rerfect Equipment. During her long employment with the
company prior to the events gng rise to this litigation, Co@p requested leaves of absence
under the FMLA on more than ten occasions, and the company approved each of her requests. It
is undisputed that, upon the expiration of eachasfFMLA requests prior to July 2012, Cooper
reported promptly for work and the company reéd her to her former position at the same
salary.
On July 6, 2012, Cooper informed Holly HWho worked in Perfect Equipment’s
Human Resources Department (“HR”), that sdmuired FMLA leave beginning on or about July
20, 2012, because she was scheduled to have back surgery. Hill referred Cooper to Julie Darnell,
the HR Manager for the company who is resiole for administering the company’s FMLA
policy. At some point in time between Jily2012, and Cooper’s leave, Cooper informed
Darnell that she “felt like” herecovery would require FMLA leave for “up to three or four
months.” It is undisputed thabth Perfect Equipment and §uer considered Cooper’s request
for leave to be related tosarious injury and, thereforeligible for FMLA leave.
When Cooper notified Perfect Equipment of heed for FMLA leave, the company gave
Cooper a formal notice that listed her rights e#gponsibilities under the HM (the “Notice”).
In the Notice, the defendant advised the pifititat she was requideto provide sufficient

medical certification to suppolier request for leave.



B. The Medical Certification

On July 17, 2012, Perfect Equipment receivedy of a medical certidation form that
was completed by Cooper’s physician, Dr. Georgeieh. (Docket No. 19, Ex. 4.) In a part of
the form titled, “Part B. Amount dfeave Needed,” Dr. Lien wrotbat he estimated that Cooper
would be incapacitated for work during the peri@t23/12-8/21/12.” Irresponse to Question 6
on the form, Dr. Lien also noted that Coop®uld need to attend follow-up treatment
appointments or work part-time or on redusetledule because of her condition. He further
certified that one to two post-op treatments wdadd'medically necessary.” In response to the
form’s question asking “[w]ill the condition causpisodic flare-ups periodically preventing the
employee from performing his/her job functions,” Dr. Lien wrote “unknown.” And finally,
in a section on the form titled ‘Gditional Information,” Dr. Lien father wrote, “work status will
be addressed at post op appointment on 8/21/12.”

C. Designation Notice

Darnell used the information in the medical certification form submitted by Dr. Lien
when she prepared a Designation Noticeterplaintiff's July2012 leave of absence
(“Designation Notice”). (Dockdlo. 19, Ex. 6.) Accordingly, the Designation Notice, dated
July 17, 2012, states,

Based on the information you have paed to date, we are providing the

following information about the time thaiill be counted against your leave

entitlement: Provided there is no deviatfoom your anticipged leave schedule,

the following number of hours, days,weeks will be countedgainst your leave
entittement: 2/13/12—2/17/13/16/12, 6/15/12, 7/23/12—8/21/12.

The Designation Notice further states: “[tlhe FMLA requires gfou notify us as soon as
practicable if dates of schedullsthve change or are extendedyvere initially unknown.” Id.)

D. Cooper’s Leave



Before Cooper left for her July 2012 FMLA leave, she and Darnell discussed what the
plaintiff would have to dan order to maintain her health insurance benefits if she was absent for
an extended period of time. Darnell also géneeplaintiff a memorandum that explained that
the plaintiff would be eligibléor COBRA to maintain her health insurance benefits if she
continued to be absent beyond 12 weeks of FMdavé. Darnell submits in an affidavit that,
when she gave the plaintiff a memorandum related to her insurance, Darnell also reminded the
plaintiff that, under company policy, employeelsarexceeded four months of leave within a 12-
month period were subject tanenation, regardless of the reason for leave. (Docket No. 19.)

It is undisputed that the plaintiff reéged and reviewed the Designation Noticét is
further undisputed that, wheneshreceived the Designation Notighe did not call Ms. Darnell
or the company to ask for clarification. The ptéf testified at her deposition that, when she
reviewed the Designation Noticghe “underst[ood] that her FMLwas approved.” (Docket No.

21, Ex. 1 at 40.) Cooper further appeared stifiethat, although sheead and understood the
dates listed for FMLA leave on the form—y@3, 2012 to August 21, 2012—she believed that

her conversation with Darnell iandicated she would “get three to four months offd. &t 42.)

% The court notes that the plaintiff has “disputed” some facts submitted by the defendant that are,
in reality, undisputed. For example, the def@nt submits as an undisputed fact: “Plaintiff

admits that she received and reviewed the d»egion Notice, and she did not call Ms. Darnell

or anyone else at the Company to ask questbost the Designation Noticlaintiff at 40).”

The plaintiff responded, “Disputed. In her depaositPlaintiff said she did not understand it that
way. Cooper depo. At 42/7-18. The form does ngtisat is her only appred leave. In fact,

the form says that ‘All leave kan for this reason will be designated FMLA leave.” Here, the
plaintiff is not disputing the fact that was sulied by the defendant. She does not state that she
did not receive or review tHeesignation Notice or that skkd call Darnell or the company to

ask gquestions about the notice. Moreoves,dlaintiff's deposition testimony, cited by the
defendant, expressly corroborates the accuracyedatit. (Docket No. 21, Ex. 1 at 40.) In the
interest of a timely dispositioof the pending motion, the court will nevertheless consider the
plaintiff's responses to the DSUF.



Cooper’s leave of absence began on 23ly2012. Approximately one week after her
leave began, Cooper spoke with Hill and mfied her that she was doing fine and using a
walker. During that conversation, the plaingid not give Hill any additional information
regarding her health and stliel not contact the companyag before her termination.

E. Cooper’s Termination

Cooper did not report for work on August 2D12, the day after her FMLA leave, as
stated on the Designation Notice, expired. Subsequently, Cooper missed four additional days of
work. She did not contact the companyidgrhis time. On August 27, 2021, Perfect
Equipment discharged Cooper.

Darnell states in an affidavit that the reagor Cooper’s termination was her failure to
return to work following the expiration of happroved leave of absence and her failure to
communicate with the company to explain her absen (Docket No. 19.) Itis undisputed that
the company’s 2012 Associate Handbook (“Handboekjjressly providethat the company
considers an employee’s unexcused absencerfr tonsecutive daystiout notification to
the company to be a voluntary resignatidime Handbook further provides that a failure to
return from a leave of absence on the date scheduled is grounds for disciplinary action, up to and
including immediate termination. It is furthendisputed that Coopeeceived a copy of the
Handbook and understood that failing to timely netio work after a leave of absence was

grounds for terminatiof.

% The court notes that the plaintiff, in herpease to the DSUF, appears to object to Paragraph
54 of the DSUF, which states that Cooper “undedtthat failing to return to work after a leave
of absence was grounds for termination. (Plaintiff&®20).” The plaintiff writes, “pursuant to
F.R.C.P. 56(c)(2), Plaintiff objects that this atse fact cannot be presented in a form that
would be admissible in evidence.” Federal Rul€wil Procedure 56(c)(2rovides that “[a]
party may object that the mater@led to support or dispute a fagnnot be presented in a form
that would be admissible in evidence.” Here defendant cites toetplaintiff's deposition
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F. Procedural Background

Cooper filed this action against Perfécjuipment on September 20, 2013, alleging one
count of interference with her FMLA right¢Docket No. 1.) Cooper’s claim appears to be
grounded in her allegation that,her conversation with Darneihe “requested” three to four
months leave under the FMLAd that, in her opinion, the Bignation Notice granted such
leave. Perfect Equipment answered then@laint on October 18, 2013. (Docket No. 8.)
Perfect Equipment filed its Motion for Summanydgment as to the plaintiff's claim on October
6, 2014. (Docket No. 16.) The plaintiff filedmidotion for Partial Summary Judgment on the
Issue of Liability on Octobe30, 2014. (Docket No. 27.)

ANALYSIS

Rule 56 Standard

Rule 56 requires the court to grant a mofensummary judgment if “the movant shows
that there is no genuine disputet@asiny material fact and the mawuas entitled to judgment as a
matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). To véiammary judgment as to the claim of an adverse
party, a moving defendant must show that there igemuine issue of materidct as to at least
one essential element of the plaintiff's clai@nce the moving defendant makes its initial
showing, the burden shifts to the plaintiffgmvide evidence beyond the pleadings, “set[ting]
forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for théltdowan v. City of Warren

578 F.3d 351, 374 (6th Cir. 2008gealsoCelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 322-23

testimony, which states: “Q: ‘Allght. If you would look at the third page of Exhibit 8, at Item
Number 42, could you read that for me out loud?'FRilure to return from a Leave of Absence
on the date scheduled unless excused bgdhmany.’ Q: ‘Do you understand what that
means?’ A: ‘Yes, sir.’ . . . ‘If you don’t come baok the day of your leave of absence, you'll be
fired.” (Docket No. 21, Ex. 1 at 19-20.) eBause the plaintiff's testimony unequivocally
supports the fact as offered by ttlefendant and that testimongwid be admissible at trial, the
plaintiff's objection is overruled.



(1986). Conversely, to win summary judgment aigstown claims, a moving plaintiff (such as
Cooper) must demonstrate that no genuine isso@atdrial fact exists as to all essential
elements of her claims. “In evaluating the evimerthe court must draw all inferences in the
light most favorable to the non-moving partyMoldowan 578 F.3d at 374 (citinglatsushita
Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Carp75 U.S. 574, 587 (1986)).

At this stage, “the judge’function is not . . . to weigh the evidence and determine the
truth of the matter, but to determine whettreere is a genuine issue for trialftl. (Quoting
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inel77 U.S. 242, 249 (1986)). Bitlhe mere exstence of a
scintilla of evidence in support of the [non-moving party’s] position will be insufficient,” and the
party’s proof must be motéan “merely colorable.’Anderson477 U.S. 242, at 252. An issue
of fact is “genuine” onlyf a reasonable jury could find for the non-moving paMoldowan
578 F.3d at 374 (citingnderson477 U.S. at 252).

The McDonnell Douglas Analysis

As an initial matter, Cooper’s FMLA clai is analyzed employing the familiar burden-
shifting analysis set forth by the Supreme CouMabonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greedll U.S.
792 (1973), and later refined Bgxas Dept. of Community Affairs v. BurdidB0 U.S. 248
(1981). TheMcDonnell Douglagramework is properly used where a plaintiff uses indirect or
circumstantial evidence to demonstrate straemployer acted with a retaliatory or
discriminatory motive. If the plaintiff makespaima facieshowing, “the burden shifts to the
defendant to offer evidence of a legitimaten-discriminatory reason for the adverse
employment action.”Clay v. United Parcel Sens01 F.3d 695, 704 (6th Cir. 2007). To meet
this burden, the defendant must clearly set fahitgugh the introductionf admissible evidence,

the reasons for its decisioid.; see also Berry v. City of Pontig269 F. App’'x 545, 549 (6th



Cir. 2008). If the defendant is successful, the butden “shifts back to the plaintiff to show
that the defendant’s proffered reasoa isretext for unlawful discrimination.Bryson v. Regis
Corp.,498 F.3d 561, 570 (6th Cir.2007). To make this showing, Cooper retains the ultimate
burden of producing “sufficient evidence fromialinthe jury could reamably reject [the
defendant’s] explanation and infer that [the defendant] intentionally discriminated against her.”
Braithwaite v. Timken Cp258 F.3d 488, 493-94 (6th Cir. 2001).

The elements of prima faciecase for Cooper’s interferenckaim are discussed below.

The FMLA

The FMLA provides that anigible employee is entitled top to twelve weeks of
medical leave in a year in the event of $&rious health conditiathat makes the employee
unable to perform the functions of the position of such employ@#&:Song v. Dow Chem. Co.
503 F.3d 441, 446 (6th Cir. 2007) (ditng 29 U.S.C. 8 2612(a)(1)(D)3ee also Cavin v. Honda
of Am. Mfg., Inc.346 F.3d 713, 719 (6th Cir. 2003). The&tBiCircuit recognizes two theories
for recovery under the FMLA: “the interfereniteory, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 2615(a)(1), and
the retaliation theory, pursuatat 29 U.S.C. § 2615(a)(2).Id. Here, Cooper has advanced a
claim under only the first theofy.

A. Interference Claims under the FMLA

The FMLA makes it illegal for an employer to “interfere with, restrain, or deny the

exercise of or the attempt to exercise, aglt provided under [the FMLA].” 29 U.S.C. §

* The court notes that Cooper's FMLA interfeterclaim, as pleaded and argued in her briefs
related to the pending motions, appeto overlap with the FMLA taliation theory. Indeed, for
that reason, the defendant addessboth the retaliation and inenénce theories in its initial

brief in support of its summajydgment motion. However, in her Response to the defendant’s
Motion, the plaintiff does not argubkat her termination constituteetaliation in violation of the
FMLA and, accordingly, she has abandoned anyia&tan claim that she may have alleged in
her Complaint. Consequently, the court wilabze her claim as solely an interference claim
under the FMLA, as the plaintiff halescribed the claim in her briefs.



2615(a)(1). Consequently, if @mployer interferes with tHeMLA-created right to medical
leave or to reinstatement followingetheave, a violation has occurrefirtban v. West Publ’'g
Corp., 345 F.3d 390, 401 (6th Cir. 2003).

A plaintiff must establish prima faciecase of FMLA interference by demonstrating five
elements: “(1) [she] was an ‘[e]ligible employe€) the defendant was an ‘[e]mployer’ covered
under the FMLA; (3) the employee was entitledei@mve under the FMLA(4) the employee gave
the employer notice of [her] intention to tdkave; and (5) the employer denied the employee
FMLA benefits to which [she] was entitledWysong 503 F.3d at 447 (quotin@avin 346 F.3d
at 719);see also Walton v. Ford Motor Cd24 F.3d 481, 485 (6th Cir. 2005). The employee
must establish these elements by a preponderance of the evi@enagl v. Rinker Materials
Corp,, 395 F.3d 332, 335 (6th Cir. 2005) (citi@gvin 346 F.3d at 719). Regulations
interpreting the FMLA explain #t interference includes, “f@xample, not only refusing to
authorize FMLA leave, but discouraging anpoyee from using such leave.” 29 C.F.R. 8
825.220(b) (2013)see also Arbam345 F.3d at 402.

“Because the relevant issue is whethergmployer provided the employee with the
entitlements provided by the FMLA, an employeaty violate Section 2615(a)(1) regardless of
the intent behind its conductRitenour v. Tenn. Dep’t of Human Serv@7 F. App’x 521, 530
(6th Cir. 2012). However, because the Sixtrc@it has recognized that “the FMLA is not a
strict-liability statute, the mere occurrencarmerference with an employee’s FMLA rights is
not aper seFMLA violation.” 1d. (internal citations omitted). If an employer demonstrates a
legitimate reason unrelated taetbxercise of FMLA rights fdiaking adverse action against the
employee, the plaintiff must rebut the empldyeeason by showing that the proffered reason

had (1) no basis in fact, (2) did not motizdlhe adverse employment action, or (3) was



insufficient to warrant thadverse employment actioid. (citing Donald v. Sybra, Inc667
F.3d 757, 772 (6th Cir. 2012gee also Grace v. USCAR21 F.3d 655, 670 (6th Cir. 2008).

V. The Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment

To win on summary judgmererfect Equipment must shdhat there is no genuine
issue of material fact as & least one eleemt of Cooper’orima facieclaim for interference.
The five elements include that (1) Coopesvaa “eligible employee” under the FMLA; (2)
Perfect Equipment was an employer coverethkyFMLA; (3) Cooper was entitled to leave
under the FMLA, (4) Cooper gave Perfect Equiptmetice of her intentin to leave; and (5)
Perfect Equipment denied Coopee BMLA benefits to which she was entitled. If the defendant
succeeds on this initial showinggetburden shifts to the plaifffiwho must provide evidence
beyond the pleadings, “set[ting] forth specific &ashowing that there is a genuine issue for
trial.”

Here, Perfect Equipment disputes onlg fburth and fifth edments of Cooper’grima
faciecase. Specifically, Perfect @Egment contends that it is usguted that (1) the plaintiff
failed to inform the company that she needadxtension of her FMA leave beyond August
21, 2012 and therefore, did not ginetice of her intention to ke leave; and (2) Cooper cannot
show that Perfect Equipment denied CooperMLA entittements because her leave expired
on August 21, 2012, and she did not request amgixte of her leave astherwise notify the
company of her incapacity to work.

A. Did Cooper Give Sufficient Noticeof Her Intent to Take Leave?

1. Generally
Title 29 of the Code of Federal Regulatigmevides the obligations of employees

seeking foreseeable FMLA leave. 29 C.FBR25.302. The regulatiopsovide that “[a]n
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employee must provide [her] enogkr with at least 30 days advance notice before FMLA leave
is to begin if the need for leave is foreseeabld.’at § 825.302(a). As the Sixth Circuit has
explained, the employee’s burdiemot onerous as to the ro& element of her claimSee

Wallace v. FedEx Corp764 F.3d 571, 586 (6th Cir. 2014)qclissing notice and explaining

that “[tlhe employee’s burden is not heayy.*An employee gives his employer sufficient
notice that he is requesting leave for an FMdualifying condition when he gives the employer
enough information for the employer to reasonaoigclude that an ent described in the

FMLA has occurred.”Cavin 364 F.3d at 723-24. Additionally, part of reasonable notice
generally includes andication of “the anticipated timg and duration of the leaveld. at §
825.302(c).

The regulations state that notice involvemsthing more than “[c]alling in ‘sick.”Id. at
8 825.303(b). However, “[tlhe employee neederqiressly assert rights under the FMLA or
even mention the FMLA, but may only statattleave is needed. The employer will be
expected to obtain any additional requinefrmation through informal meandd. The
regulations further state that “notice need didygiven one time, but the employee shall advise
the employer as soon as practicabbiates of scheduled leaveastge or are extended, or were
initially unknown.” 1d. at 302(c).

Once the employee has informed the employéeofntent to take keve, the regulations
expressly provide that an employer is obligatemhduiire with respect tadditional details as to
the requested leave. Thegulations provide that[itn all cases the employer should inquire
further of the employee if it is necessary to hen@e information abowvhether FMLA leave is
being sought by the employee, and obtain the necedstais of the leave to be taken. In the

case of medical conditions, the employer may fimetessary to inquire further to determine if
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the leave is because of a serious health tiondand may request medical certification to
support the need for such leaved. (emphasis addedjee als®9 C.F.R. § 825.305 (discussing
medical certification, generally).

The Act itself and its related regulationsmmt expressly discuss whether, for purposes
of satisfying the notice element of a plaintiffema faciecase, the plaintiff’s initial estimation
as to the amount of her requested leave is retewaeven dispositive. However, recently, the
Sixth Circuit articulated that, for this noticeepient of an FMLA interference claim, “[t]he
relevant question is whether [an employee] pravifter employer] with notice that she needed
FMLA leave, not whether she provided notice tla needed a certain anmt of FMLA leave.”
Wallace 764 F.3d at 586.

In Wallace the Sixth Circuit reviewed a magistrgtielge’s decision to deny judgment as
a matter of law at trial to a tendant seeking dismissal of an FMLA interference claim. The
factual and procedural circumstance$\illaceare substantially dissimilar from the record
here; however, the Sixth Circuit plainly rejedtan argument with respect to establishing
“notice” that is nearly identical to Perfdefuipment’s argument here. Where the defendant-
employer argued that the notice element of thénpff's FMLA interference claim was not met
because she failed to provide notice of an itberto take leave beyoradcertain amount of pre-
approved (non-FMLA) leave, thex@h Circuit wrote that the defelant had “largely miss[ed] the
point.” Id. Because the plaintiff idVallacehad provided a doctor’s r@stating that she had a
serious medical condition that required hetake leave from work and the employer, in
response, provided the plaintiff with FMLA parwork, the court concluded that a reasonable
juror could conclude that the plaintiff had provided her employer with sufficient notice.

2. It1s Undisputed That Cooper Gave Sufficient Notice That She Needed FMLA
Leave

12



Examining the record in light &allace the court concludes thatis undisputed that
Cooper gave notice to the company that shaldvneed FMLA leave beginning in early July
2012. Itis further undisputed that Cooper araitedl to her employer that her leave would be
related to an FMLA-qualifying evén Indeed, Perfect Equipmeadmits that it had knowledge
that Cooper was requesting leave and of difyureg reason for the leave; the only dispute
between the parties turns on #maount of leave requested Gpoper. Under the reasoning of
Wallace then, the notice requirement was met lmpger’s initial communiation with Darnell
and Hill regarding her surgery, rediess of the amount of leave that she requested at that time
and its inconsistency with the duration e&Ve identified by Dr. len on Cooper’s medical
certification form. For these reasons, the counctales no reasonable jury could conclude that
Cooper failed to provide sufficient notice of hexed for FMLA leave to her employer. At the
very least, viewing the record alight most favorable to theghtiff, a genuine issue of fact
exists as to whether or not Cooper gave suffichotice to her employegegarding her leave.
Accordingly, summary judgmelg not appropriate for Perfect Equipment on this ground.

B. Did Perfect Equipment Deny or Interfere with Cooper’s Rights under the
FMLA?

Perfect Equipment also argues that it iStkal to summary judgment because it is
undisputed that Perfect Equipmelid not deny Cooper any beiisfto which she was entitled
under the FMLA. The plaintiff's arguments anaclear as to her allegations of exatibw
Perfect Equipment denied her benefits undeFtfieA. In sum, however, she appears to argue
that her employer interfereditiv her rights by terminating heluring the period for which she
had requested FMLA leave and by failing to inguurther into Cooper’s request for leave at
two points in time: (1) when it assessed Derl’s medical certificatin form and designated

only 7/23/12-08/21/12 as FMLAehve, despite Cooper’s initisdquest for “three to four
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months” of leave; and Jafter August 21, 2012, when she did regturn to work for four days

after her approved leave ended. ConverselffeBeEquipment argues that Cooper’'s FMLA
interference claim cannot be premised ontbanination based on absences that occurred
following her approved leave, because the noticengbyeCooper (taking heaonversations with

HR and the medical certification in conjunctiams limited to the p@d ending on August 21,
2012. After careful review of relevant legal auities and the record, tlmurt concludes that a
guestion of fact exists as whether Perfect Equipment denied Cooper benefits under the FMLA
by failing to inquire further as to the amounti@ve required for Cooper’s approved leave and
to contact her before terminating her.

1. Failure to Grant Leave after August 22012 or Inquire Further as to Need
for Leave

In short, the question before the counvisether Perfect Equipmeacted properly when
it assessed and approved Cooper’s July redoeBMLA leave for only the duration of time
identified on Cooper’s medical ¢#éication form signed by Dr. Lie, without furthe inquiry into
the discrepancy between the form and ttaéngiff's initial oral request for leave.

As an initial matter, the federal regutais provide that an employer’s decision to
designate leave as FMLA-qualifying may beséa on information received from the employee
or the employee’s spokesperson—for instancephgsician or spouse. 29 C.F.R. § 825.301(a).
Such additional information ahudes medical certificationdd. at 88 825.302; 825.305. After
notice has been given, the regulati@lso obligate employers tan ‘all cases’ inquire further
of the employee to obtain necessdejails of leave to be takeid. Even after medical
certification is provided, an emplayes obligated to advise an employee if the certification is
considered incomplete or insufficientze; if the information prowded is vague, ambiguous, or

non-responsiveld. 8 825.305(c). The regulations further provide that, if an employer considers
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medical certification to be insufficient, the employer must advise the employee and state in
writing what additional information is necesg& make the certification completéd. The
employer must also provide the employee withegecalendar days to cure any deficienty.

Here, it is undisputed th&ooper and the company discussed her surgery prior to her
leave and that Cooper inform#éte company that she may requitieree to four months” of
medical leave. It appears to be further updied that Darnell and Cooper discussed, in the
context of COBRA benefits, the date at whiehoper’'s 12 weeks of FMLA leave would expire
that year, in the event that Coojuld, in fact, require continuousave for a period of three to
four months (and taking into account FMLA leashe had already used before July 2012).
Additionally, it is undisputed thasubsequent to her conversaiis) with Cooper, Darnell, on
behalf of the defendant, evaluated the roaldiertification form submitted by Cooper’s
physician, Dr. Lien. On the form, Dr. Lien identified estimatedoeriod of incapacitation for
Cooper’s recovery, 7/23/12-8/20. Moreover, Dr. Lien indicated on the form that Cooper’s
recovery would include follow-up treatment appointments and, specifically put the company on
notice that Cooper’s work status would ligleessed at her pogperative appointment
scheduled for August 21, 2012.

The court concludes that, givérese undisputed facts, it isptausible that the defendant
was not on notice that Cooper may have requilLA leave in excess of the time period
estimated by Dr. Lien on the medical certificatform. Despite being aware of the discrepancy
between the plaintiff's requestrfeave and Dr. Lien’s estimatdsgywever, the defendant did not
(1) request further information from Dr. Lien @Gooper regarding the datef Cooper’s recovery
or medical certification thereof, in accordancéwhe regulations; (2) gaest that Dr. Lien or

Cooper contact the company a¢ #nd of the estimated periodinfapacitation identified by the
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medical certification form; or (3) alert Cooper that all of the “three to four months” discussed
in their previous conversatiomsuld be considered FMLA-approvédinstead, despite Dr.
Lien’s notes suggesting that the “estimatedies of incapacitation” were, in fact, mere
estimates, Perfect Equipment approved leave for Cooper aisiythe dates that Dr. Lien
provided with respect to astimatedperiod of incapacitation.

The court recognizes that itumdisputed that Cooper reeed the Designation Notice,
reviewed it, and did not rais@yobjection to the dates identdidor FMLA leave. However,
the defendant has not cited—and the courtdegs unable to find—aryinding or persuasive
authority supporting the defendant’s argument ¢thaa request for FMLAeave is limited in
duration to dates supported bynadical certification form, an®) the burden to clarify a
discrepancy between a medical ceéifion form and a plaintiff's request for leave rests solely

with an employeé. In sum, because Perfect Equipmeas aware of a patent and unexplained

> It goes without saying that, tifie certification was considered incomplete or insufficient by the
company, the regulations required that Coopegiben seven days to cure any defe@se29
C.F.R. § 825.305(c).

® It appears that the Sixth Cirit has not addressed the issuéoiv district courts should
consider requests for leave under the FMLAamdrcumstances where the amount of leave
requested by the employee is inconsistent thighduration of incapacity estimated on a medical
certification form. Howewe at least one other federal cooftappeals has concluded that, with
respect to estimated durations of incapacitytified in medical certiitation forms for purposes
of FMLA leave, “[a]n estimate is just thatFansen v. Fincantieri Marine Group, LL.@63

F.3d 832, 840 (7th Cir. 2014). Hansenthe Seventh Circuit reversed and remanded a district
court’s decision to grant summgodgment to an employer with respect to a former employee’s
FMLA interference and retaliationaims. The appellate court dityy addressed the question of
“whether an employer is allowed to deny intétemt FMLA leave when an eligible employee
exceeds the estimated length or duration iplexvin his medical certification form.Id. at 835.

In Hansen the plaintiff's medical provider had cerifl to his employer that its employee had a
chronic serious health condition that would caesisodic flare-ups, periodically preventing the
employee from performing his job functions. “Teertification set forth the date the condition
began” and, in response to a quastsking the doctor to “estingthe frequency of flare-ups
and duration of related incapacttyat the patient may havelie doctor responded, “4 times per
6 months . . . lasting 2-5 day(s) per episodeé.”at 842. After the defendant terminated the
plaintiff for exceeding the absences as set fiorthis medical certificabn form, the plaintiff
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discrepancy between Cooper’s requested datdaMihA leave and her physician’s estimate as
to the duration of her incapacity, the court dades that a reasonableyicould find that the
company interfered with her rights by termimg her during her requested FMLA leave period
and/or by failing to inquire further regarditite duration of her re@st for leave (instead,
approving only the estimated dates identified bylLlban). Accordingly, anssue of fact exists
as to the fifth element of Coopepsima faciecase and the defendant is not entitled to summary
judgment on this ground.
2. Failure to Contact Coogx before Termination

Cooper further argues that Perfect Equgmtndenied her benefits under the FMLA by
failing to contact her and inquireher absences werelated to her FMLA-qualifying condition
before terminating her. Specifically, she @mds that, because it had notice of her FMLA-
gualifying condition, Perfect Equipment should hawgired whether her alences were related
to her previously-approved leave before tewtiimg her. Conversely, Perfect EqQuipment argues
that, because Cooper’s approved FMleAdve ended on August 21, 2012, it was under no
obligation to contact Cooper aimttjuire whether her absencedsequent to the expiration of
her leave were FMLA-qualifying. After review tfe record and persuasive authorities, the

court concludes that a question of fact exastso whether PerfeBigquipment denied Cooper

filed suit under the FMLA. With respect taetdefendant’s argument that its employee’s leave
was “limited” to the duration estimated by kligctor, the Seventh f2uit wrote, “[t]he

certification form requested an estimate, and Dst Bave an estimate The court further noted
that, if “certified frequency anduration were limits on the employee’s entitlement to leave,
there would be no need to request recertificaivhen the employee’s requested leave exceeded
the frequency or duration statedthe certification; the employer could simply deny FMLA
leave.” Id. at 842-3 (citing 29 C.F.R. § 825.308(c) (regidn that authores an employer to
request recertification where the “circumstandescribed by the previous certification have
changed significantly (e.ghe duration or frequency of the absence).”) (emphasis in

original).
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benefits to which she was entitled undex BEMLA by failing to contact her before her
termination.

The regulations interpreting the FMLA expsty state that, “[ijn any circumstance where
the employer does not have sufficient informatabout the reason for an employee’s use of
leave, the employer should inquire furthetlsd employee or the spokesperson to ascertain
whether leave is potentially FMLA-qualifying.29 C.F.R. § 301(a). Perfect Equipment argues
that, because Cooper’s FMLA was limited te thuration of time estimated by Dr. Lien, its
obligation to inquire wagot triggered here.

The court disagrees. As an initial matteerfect Equipment was on notice that (1)
Cooper suffered from a serious medical conditi@) Cooper estimated that she may require
between three and four monthsledve, and (3) her physiciaraphed to re-evaluate her work
status at her post-op appointment with lmmAugust 21, 2012. On these grounds, the court
concludes that Perfect Equipmevds obligated to inquire furthef Cooper as to whether her
leave after August 21, 2012 was EMqualifying. Other federdacourts have similarly
concluded that, “[w]hen an engylee provides the employer with roat that she may be in need
of FMLA leave . . . it then becomes the eoydr's duty to determine whether or not the
employee actually requires FMLA leave if theres@ne doubt as to whwdr or not the request
would qualify.” Spangler v. Fed. Home Loan Bank of Des Mqi@&8 F.3d 847, 853 (8th Cir.
2002);see also Miller v. GB Sales & Serv., Ii275 F. Supp. 2d 823, 830 (E.D. Mich. 2003)
(citing Spangley. “Moreover, where the employerdprevious knowledgef the plaintiff-
employee’s health condition, thesea burden on the employeritmuire further whenever the
employee calls in sick for medical reastmsletermine if those reasons were FMLA-

qualifying.” Miller, 275 F. Supp. 2d at 829.
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Here, given the undisputed facts in teeard, including Perfe&quipment’s admission
that it had previously discussed with Coopgesdod of leave in excess of the four weeks
estimated by Dr. Lien, the cduwoncludes that a reasonajueor could find that Perfect
Equipment interfered with Cooper’s FMLA#ghts by failing to cordct her on August 22, 2012,
or, at least, before her terminatifum excessive unexcused absences.

For these reasons, genuine gioest of fact exist as to whether the plaintiff has
established prima faciecase of FMLA interference. The cowoncludes that there are issues
appropriate for trial as to whethermot the plaintiff can establish herima faciecase of FMLA
interference by a preponderance of the evidedaeordingly, the court need not proceed with
theMcDonnell Douglasanalysis and will order that thefdadant is not entitled to summary
judgment.

The Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment

The plaintiff has filed a Motiofor Partial Summary Judgment tsLiability with regard
to her FMLA interference claim. To win summigndgment, the plaintiff must establish that,
when viewing the facts in a lighmost favorable to the defendant genuine issue of fact exists
as to each essential element of her claior the reasons discussed with respect to the
defendant’s pending motion, there genuine issues of fact withggect to the fifth element of
Cooper’'sprima faciecase for FMLA interference. Consequently, the plaintiff's motion will also
be denied and her claim will proceed to trial.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed herein, lmthdefendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment

and the plaintiff’'s Motion for Partial $amary Judgment will be denied.
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An appropriate order will enter. %; /M—’_‘

ALETA A. TRAUG
United States District Judge
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